University of Veterinary Medicine Budapest Department and Clinic of Surgery and Ophthalmology



# Anatomical Surgical Landmarks in Thoracolumbar Surgery of Dogs

Toni-Björn Matthias Breuer

Supervisors:

Prof. Dr. Franck Forterre, Professor and Head of Division Division of Surgery, Department of Clinical Veterinary Medicine Vetsuisse Faculty, University of Bern

Prof. Dr. Németh Tibor, Professor and Head of Department Department and Clinic of Surgery and Ophthalmology University of Veterinary Medicine Budapest

Budapest, Hungary 2023

# **Table of Contents**

1.	List	t of Abbreviations2			
2.	Intro	oduction	3		
2	.1.	Percutaneous palpation	5		
2	.2.	Placement of a sterile needle and dye injection	6		
2	.3.	Ultrasonography	6		
2	.4.	Fluoroscopy, C-arm	7		
2	.5.	Three-dimensional intraoperative navigation	7		
3.	Aim	n of the study	8		
4.	Material and Methods				
4	.1.	Cadaver study	8		
4	.2.	Dissection	9		
5.	Resu	sults	12		
5	.1.	Bony Landmarks	12		
	5.1.	.1. Vertebra anticlinalis	12		
	5.1.	.2. Processus mammillaris	13		
	5.1.	.3. Last rib and processus transversus L1	14		
	5.1.	.4. Facet joints	15		
	5.1.	.5. Intercristal line	16		
5	.2.	Soft Tissue Landmarks	17		
	5.2.	2.1. M. spinalis et semispinalis thoracis et cervicis	17		
	5.2.	2.2. M. longissimus lumborum	18		
6.	Disc	cussion	19		
7. Abstract					
7	.1.	English Abstract	23		
7	.2.	Hungarian Abstract	25		
8.	List	List of Figures27			
9.	References				
10.	Acknowledgements				

# 1. List of Abbreviations

ALARA – As low as reasonably achievable ICRP – International Commission on Radiological Protection IVDD – Intervertebral disc disease L – Lumbar vertebra M. – Musculus Mm. – Musculi Sv – Sievert Th – Thoracal vertebra

WSSS - Wrong-site spinal surgery

## 2. Introduction

In recent years, thoracolumbar surgeries have gained increasingly high importance in veterinary surgery as they can effectively treat a wide range of conditions affecting the spinal column in the thoracal and lumbar regions. Seamless anatomical knowledge is therefore essential for the surgeon to evaluate the various amount of anatomical surgical landmarks during the surgery, which can help to find the accurate site of the lesion. These landmarks are important anatomical features of the spinal structures that can be easily and safely evaluated in a reproducible manner intraoperatively. Landmarks include bony structures such as the *processi spinosi*, articular facet joints, and either *processi transversi* or costovertebral articulations, as well as muscular structures such as the insertion and position of epaxial muscles [36].

Intervertebral disc disease (IVDD) is a prevalent spinal condition in dogs, affecting approximately 2% of clinical patients. [3, 4]. Due to the unique anatomy of the *ligamentum intercapitale*, the thoracolumbar and lumbar spinal regions are more prone to IVDD. This ligament connects the head of the ribs, spanning the dorsal intervertebral space, thus preventing the prolapse of the *discus intervertebralis*, as demonstrated in **Figure 1** [15]. The ligament is rudimentary in the caudal thoracic region, which results in a higher occurrence rate of IVDD in this area [19, 37]. Over 85% of the lesions occur at the discs between the eleventh and twelfth thoracal vertebra (Th11/Th12), and second and third lumbar vertebra (L2/L3) [36, 37].



*Figure 1: Canine vertebra viewed from the cranial aspect of the T1-T2 discus intervertebralis. The ligamentum intercapitale is marked in blue. [15]* 

Finding the correct localization of the diseased vertebra for a thoracolumbar surgery is mandatory for a successful outcome and can be ensured with various techniques. Nevertheless, studies have shown that the rate of wrong-site spinal surgeries in human medicine is between 0.03% to 5.2% [9, 22] and half of the surgeons claimed to have performed a spinal surgery at the incorrect vertebral site [22, 27]. In 1014 reviewed veterinary cases over the span of 4 years, 13 cases (1.38%) have been reported with a surgery at the wrong level [3]. The majority of wrong-site spinal surgeries have been performed at the lumbar spine (71%), followed by cervical (21%), and thoracic (8%) vertebrae [22].

A wrong-site spinal surgery (WSSS) can have several negative outcomes. An incorrect level of decompression may traumatize paraspinal soft tissues, disrupt osseoligamentous stabilizing structures, and produce epidural fibrosis [22, 27]. These consequences may increase postoperative pain and cause prolonged recovery of the patient [27]. Another major factor is the increase in anaesthesia and surgery time.

Numerous factors may contribute to the outcome of thoracolumbar surgeries, including the variables of the cardiovascular system and perfusion status of the spinal cord, as well as surgical factors such as haemorrhages or spinal cord manipulation [11]. The spinal cord's vascular autoregulation can be impaired during such surgery, leading to acute spinal cord injury. The perfusion of the spinal cord is dependent on systemic blood pressure, which could suggest that intraoperative hypotonia or bradycardia may have detrimental effects on postoperative recovery [10, 11, 21].

In human and veterinary medicine, a variety of studies have been performed with the aim of reducing the occurrence of WSSS. These recommendations include appropriate training in pre- and intraoperative image studies interpretation, thorough knowledge of surgical anatomy, and proper pre- and intraoperative identification of the accurate spine level [9, 27, 35]. For localization, several techniques can be used, such as marking the anatomical landmark by means of a sterile needle, ultrasonography, intraoperative fluoroscopy, and computed tomography [3, 25, 35].

#### 2.1. Percutaneous palpation

Percutaneous palpation is a beneficial technique for clinical examination, as it can help locate the accurate intervertebral space for spinal surgery pre- or intraoperatively. This technique involves palpating the cranial bony landmarks of the *processus spinosus* of Th13 and the last pair of ribs and counting the *processi spinosi* caudally. Additionally, the iliac crest can be palpated to help identify the *processus spinosus* of L7, which can be used as a reference point for counting cranially to reach the affected vertebra [3, 25].

This method has an accuracy of 76.6% to 87.5% but it is suggested that percutaneous palpation far cranial from the iliac crest is more likely to be misidentified [3, 25]. In the case of obese patients, the accuracy is further decreased and shows a high error rate [3]. The benefit of this method is its cost-effectiveness and in terms of time efficiency.

In human medicine, the intercristal line, also known as Tuffier's line or Jacoby's line, is a commonly used landmark, which can be palpated, to identify the lumbar spine levels, indicating L4 and L5 interspinous space [33, 38]. Tuffier described the landmark for performing subarachnoid injections in the lumbar region [34]. However, the intercristal line was described by Jacoby as a line between the highest points of the iliac crest, passing through the vertebral body of the fourth lumbar vertebra [14].

#### 2.2. Placement of a sterile needle and dye injection

This method is often used in clinical practice, as it is simple to perform and relatively cheap. A sterile needle is placed at the surgical site into the *processus spinosi* by percutaneous counting of the *processi spinosi* of the vertebrae [6]. The placement can be then verified by preoperative dorsolateral x-ray, fluoroscopy, or computed tomography. It is assumed that this technique has high accuracy, but could also increase the risk of surgical site contamination, but this assumption has no published evidence yet [3]. The placed needle has also a risk of displacement during the patients' transport from radiology to the surgical hall and the patients positioning preoperatively, especially in large facilities [3]. In human medicine, Nassr *et al.* [23] showed a 17,8% rate of misplaced needles in 44 out of 247 cases.

Additionally, it is also possible to mark the surgical site with a dye, typically with 0,05 to 0,1 millilitres of methylene blue. The patient is placed in lateral recumbency, and the needle is inserted into a spinous process, which is then confirmed by a lateral projection x-ray. After confirmation, the dye can be injected into the area [15].

#### 2.3. Ultrasonography

For the accurate identification of the intervertebral space, the use of an ultrasound can be likewise beneficial. Etienne *et al.* have described the ultrasonographic anatomy of the spine, which can be used as the basis for this method. In the case of cranial interventions, the last pair of ribs may also be used [20]. Once the landmarks are found, the desired intervertebral space can be identified by counting the *processi spinosi* with the ultrasonographic image [3].

The method's accuracy can reach up to 90% but is dependent on the experience of the examiner. During the learning phase for ultrasonographical identification of the correct intervertebral space, the error rate is higher [3].

#### 2.4. Fluoroscopy, C-arm

Besides the previously mentioned methods, intraoperative fluoroscopy is a suitable method for providing navigation during surgery and may supply valuable information on finding the correct surgical site.

In the last human consensus, it has been suggested that fluoroscopy should be the gold standard for intraoperative imaging [35]. Nevertheless, fluoroscopy might be not available in all facilities, needs skilled surgical staff and presents a risk due to radiation exposure [3, 29].

In the case of unplanned intraoperative usage of fluoroscopy, the staff must put on protective equipment, followed by mandatory rescrubbing, regowning and regloving which further increases the anaesthesia and surgical time [3].

## 2.5. Three-dimensional intraoperative navigation

The increasing popularity of minimally invasive thoracolumbar and lumbar surgeries demands high-quality digital imaging information about the anatomical and pathological circumstances of the patient. This may be ensured by the use of a three-dimensional intraoperative navigation system, such as the O-arm, an intraoperative computed tomography scan imaging system [32]. In comparison to fluoroscopy, the O-arm provides a multiplanar view and is able to capture typically four to five spine levels, thus improving the accuracy of pedicle screw placement [13].

With the help of the position memory function, it is possible to rapidly reposition the Oarm to ensure the taking and comparison of two consecutive images with the same angle and position [31].

For patients for whom the O-arm was used intraoperatively, the operation time was reduced in comparison to those with conventional and fluoroscopic surgery [31]. Furthermore, intraoperative use of fluoroscopy leads to a higher scatter exposure in comparison to an O-arm [1]. Therefore, the use of an O-arm may reduce the radiation exposure of the surgeon and operating room staff, if an appropriate distance from the O-arm is maintained [1, 13].

# 3. Aim of the study

This study is a descriptive study of nine dogs aiming to research the anatomical surgical landmarks for the thoracolumbar region between the eleventh thoracal vertebra and the first lumbar vertebra. Both bony and soft tissue landmarks will be described which can be used for orientation preoperatively and intraoperatively to possibly reduce the use of radiological devices, the amount of radiation exposure and surgical and anaesthesia time.

# 4. Material and Methods

#### 4.1. Cadaver study

For this study, nine canine cadavers were used. Their age and history are unknown and had been euthanized for reasons unrelated to the present study. The cadavers were provided by the Department of Anatomy and Histology of the University of Veterinary Medicine of Budapest and handled in accordance with the university's cadaver handling regulations. The original intent of usage was for the anatomy practical dissections for the first- and second-year students.

The cadavers were grouped according to their weight into small-, medium-, and largesized dogs, which were ranged as follows: below 10, between 10 and 25 and above 25 kilograms, respectively. Between the cadavers, there was one French Bulldog, one Shar Pai, and seven mixed-breed dogs.

### 4.2. Dissection

The dog cadavers were first frozen and then thawed at room temperature prior to the dissection. All nine cadavers were skinned by anatomical technicians and positioned in ventral recumbency. The position of hypodermic needles, as visible in **Figure 2**, indicates the position of the *processi spinosi* in all cases.

Firstly, the *processus spinosus* of the eleventh thoracal and the first lumbar vertebra were identified and marked with hypodermic needles, as in **Figure 2**. This was done by palpation of the last rib and thirteenth thoracal vertebra as well as identification of the sacrum and seventh lumbar vertebra, then counting the *processi spinosi* cranially. To ensure the correct localization of L7, an incision was made in the median plane at the lumbosacral region.



Figure 2: Placement of hypodermic needles. (A) Dorsal view on marked vertebrae Th11 (1) and L1 (2). (B) Dorsolateral view on marked vertebrae Th11 (1) and L1 (2).

The *processus spinosus* of L6 and L7 were similarly marked to assess their position to the position of the intercristal line, also called the Tuffier's line, which is drawn between the two most cranial points of the iliac crest. Forceps were placed at the most cranial palpable points of the iliac crests to indicate the intercristal line, as shown in **Figure 3**.



Figure 3: Dorsal view onto lumbosacral region. Marking of L6 (1) and L7 (2).

After identifying the *fascia thoracolumbalis* under the subcutaneous fat, the fascia was incised paramedially to expose the underlying soft tissue, including the *fascia lumbodorsalis*, the *musculus (m.) spinalis et semispinalis thoracis et cervicis* and the *m. longissimus lumborum*, see in **Figure 4**.



Figure 4: Dorsolateral view of soft tissue under the thoracolumbar fascia, showing Th11 (1), L1 (2), spinalis et semispinalis thoracis et cervicis muscle (3), longissimus thoracis et lumborum muscle (4) and lumbodorsal fascia (5)

Once the *fascia lumbodorsalis* was incised paramedially and opened, the *m. spinalis et semispinalis thoracis et cervicis* could be seen underneath. The muscle's tendinous insertion points at the *processi mammillares* can be then further dissected. Ventrolateral to the *musculi (mm.) multifidi* the *m. longissimus lumborum* can be identified, which inserts at the *processus accessorius* of L1.

Over the course of the dissection, the positions of the *processi mammillares*, the relation of L6 and L7 to the intercristal line, along with the insertion points of the *m. spinalis et semispinalis thoracis et cervicis*.

# 5. Results

## 5.1. Bony Landmarks

## 5.1.1. Vertebra anticlinalis

The vertebra anticlinalis is the first vertebra without a caudally slanting processus spinosus process. Caudally to the vertebra anticlinalis, the processus spinosus incline cranially [30].

The localization is dependent on the chosen definition. Baines *et al.* (2009) mention three definitions: P, V and J [2]. Definition P defines the *vertebra anticlinal* as the vertebra whose *processus spinosus* is perpendicular to the vertebral body, whereas in definition V the *processus spinosus* is vertical [24, 30]. The change in orientation of the intervertebral synovial joints is defined by definition J [8]. In 75% to 94.2% of dogs, the *vertebra anticlinalis* is the eleventh thoracal vertebra, seen also in **Figure 5** [2].



Figure 5: Lateral view of the vertebra anticlinalis of Th11, marked in blue.

### 5.1.2. Processus mammillaris

The *processus mammillaris* is superimposed on the cranial *processus articularis* of the lumbar vertebrae, also known as the *processus mammilloarticularis*. Cranial to the thoracolumbar transition the process shifts towards the cranial portion of the *processus transversus* [5]. The *processi mammillares* can be palpated at the twelfth thoracic vertebra as the most cranial point during dissection. However, the *processus mammillaris* is most prominent at Th13 and L1 and could be palpated best in all nine dissected dogs. **Figure 6** shows the position of the *processi mammillares* from the twelfth thoracal to the first lumbar vertebra.



Figure 6: Dorsolateral view of the processi mammillares, marked in blue.

## 5.1.3. Last rib and processus transversus L1

The difference between the *processus transversus* of L1 and the last rib can be evaluated intraoperatively. In **Figure 7**, the last rib is seen slanting caudally in comparison to the relatively short *processus transversus* of L1, which inclines cranially. Intraoperatively, it should be noted that the proximal portion of the thirteenth rib is much longer than the *processus transversus* of L1. Additionally, the tip of the *processus transversus* can be palpated deeper than the last rib [36].



Figure 7: (A) Dorsal and (B) dorsolateral view of the thoracolumbar junction.

## 5.1.4. Facet joints

During the study of the skeleton as well as during the dissection, the orientation of the facet joints was assessed.

The joint between Th10 and Th11 is horizontally oriented and in a more lying position. Whereas the joint of Th11 and Th12 is the first facet joint, which is standing more dorsally with a caudo-dorsal orientation of the joint surfaces and therefore is not horizontally oriented. This is visualized in **Figure 8**, in which the joint of Th10/Th11 is marked in red and the joint of Th11/Th12 in blue.



Figure 8: Dorsolateral view of the facet joints. The joint of Th10/Th11 is marked in red. The joint of Th11/Th12 is marked in blue.

## 5.1.5. Intercristal line

The dissection showed that the intercristal line passed through the interspinous space of L6 and L7 in all cadavers, as shown in **Figure 9**.



Figure 9: Dorsal view on the lumbosacral region. (A) Processi spinosi are marked in blue. The line indicates the intercristal line. (B) Processi spinosi are marked with a hypodermic needle. The forceps indicate the intercristal line.

## 5.2. Soft Tissue Landmarks

## 5.2.1. M. spinalis et semispinalis thoracis et cervicis

In all nine dissected cadavers, the *m. spinalis et semispinalis thoracis et cervicis* were inserted into the *fascia lumbodorsalis* at the level of Th11. The insertion is marked with arrows in **Figure 10** (**A**).

After the opening of the *fascia lumbodorsalis*, tendons originating from the *m. spinalis et semispinalis thoracis et cervicis* could be seen, which are inserted into the *processi mammillares*. **Figure 10** shows how the tendon inserting into L1 is the most dorsolateral (A), whereas the tendon to Th13 lies underneath (B), covering the tendon to Th12 (C).



Figure 10: Dorsolateral view of the thoracolumbar region. (A) Arrows indicate the insertion of the m. spinalis et semispinalis thoracis et cervicis into the fascia lumbodorsalis.
 Arrows indicate tendons inserting at the processus mammillaris of (B) L1, (C) Th13 and (D) Th12.

## 5.2.2. <u>M. longissimus lumborum</u>

The *m. longissimus lumborum* has medial tendons inserting at the *processus accessorius* of L1 to L6 [24]. During these dissections, the insertion at the *processus accessorius* of L1, marked by arrows, could be identified as shown in **Figure 11**.



Figure 11: Dorsolateral view of the thoracolumbar region. Arrows indicate the tendon of the m. longissimus lumborum inserted to the processus accessorius.

## 6. Discussion

Thorough knowledge of anatomy is essential for the successful outcome of any surgery, not only for the accurate localization of the lesion but also for intraoperative orientation. Therefore, the anatomical surgical landmarks of thoracolumbar surgery in dogs were described and dissected in this present study. To the author's knowledge, no previous reports regarding this topic have been published.

The study was limited to the thoracolumbar region from Th10 to L1. Due to the missing *lig. intercapitale*, this region represents the majority of IVDD cases [36, 37].

The dissection of the cadavers showed the consistency of important bony and soft tissue landmarks. As a bony landmark, the *processi mammillares* may be used, as they are most prominent at Th13 and L1 and can be palpated preoperatively.

The position of the *processus spinosus* of L6 and L7 may be located using the intercristal line. At the time of writing, there are no known studies about the anatomical consistency of the intercristal line in veterinary medicine. During the dissections and palpations, the intercristal line passed through the interspinous space of L6 and L7 in all dissected cadavers. For intraoperative orientation, the orientation of the facet joints can be evaluated. The joint between Th11 and Th12 is the first joint, which is not oriented horizontally and is more in a standing position than the joint between Th10 and Th11. This landmark can be used for orientation during surgeries in the region around Th11.

A soft tissue landmark which was consistent in all cadavers is the use of insertion of the *m. spinalis et semispinalis thoracis et cervicis*, it inserted into the *fascia lumbodorsalis* at the level of Th11. Additionally, individual tendons are inserted into the *processi mammillares* of the thoracolumbar vertebrae. The tendons inserted at the *processi mammillares* of L1 are the most dorsolateral laying, covering the tendon which inserts to Th13.

The importance of wrong-site spinal surgery in veterinary medicine has not yet been fundamentally studied. In human medicine, the rate of WSSS varies between 0.03% and 5.2%, whereas in veterinary medicine one study showed a rate of 1.28% [3, 9, 22].

There are several factors which may contribute to an incorrect surgical site. The physician may misinterpret the radiographs preoperatively or intraoperatively [27]. Skin markers, like the placement of a sterile needle at the surgical site, could be misplaced during the transport or positioning of the patient in the surgical hall [3, 27]. Chondrodystrophic dogs show a

higher rate of anatomical anomalies, such as long backs, miniaturisation and obesity, increasing the risk of developing IVDD during normal activity, such as climbing stairs and jumping [18, 26]. Anatomical variations in the thoracolumbar spine regions and decreased accuracy of percutaneous palpations in obese patients might contribute to the increased risk of WSSS [3].

The consequences of WSSS range from traumatized paraspinal soft tissues to disrupted osseoligamentous structures and epidural fibrosis, as well as increased postoperative recovery time [22, 27]. Besides structural damage, there is an increase in anaesthesia and surgery time and possibly an increase in the use of intraoperative radiological devices, such as fluoroscopy or three-dimensional intraoperative navigation O-arm. Unintended use of intraoperative radiological devices will lead to rescrubbing, regowning and regloving as the staff has to put on protective equipment, which additionally increases the anaesthesia time [3].

Commonly described anatomically important landmarks for the orientation in the thoracolumbar region include the *vertebra anticlinalis*, which is in 75% to 94.2% at the eleventh vertebra [2]. The vertebra can be identified during preoperative radiological examination and used for orientation during the surgery.

For the preoperative identification of the *processus spinosus* of Th13, the use of palpation of the last rib is very beneficial. Standing on the left of the dog, the tips of the thumb and middle finger of the right hand are placed at the caudal aspect of the left and right thirteenth rib. With slight flexion of the wrist, the index finger has contact with a spinous process, which is Th13. This can be confirmed by palpating the next caudal *processus spinosus*, which should be L1, and thus be wider than Th13 [25].

During the dorsolateral approach of the thoracolumbar region, the last rib may be differentiated intraoperatively by palpation from the transverse process of L1. The cranially slanting *processus transversus* is much shorter than the caudally slanting thirteenth rib. The insertion of the *m. spinalis et semispinalis thoracis et cervicis* at Th11 may be evaluated after incising the *fascia thoracolumbalis*. Our study adds less known or considered consistent landmarks that can be easily used intraoperatively for safe anatomical orientation.

The present study also aims to reduce the intraoperative use of radiological devices by improving the knowledge of thoracolumbar anatomy and its landmarks. The pathological effects due to radiation exposure were reviewed by several authors. One major concern is the increased risk of cancer, whereas a cumulative amount of 1 Sievert (Sv) of radiation exposure increases the individual risk of developing solid cancer by 60%. The same amount of radiation exposure also increases the absolute risk of cancer mortality by 5% [12, 16]. In human medicine, Chou *et al.* [7] surveyed many female orthopaedic, urologic and plastic surgeons about the history of cancer, the use of fluoroscopy and the medical history. The most frequent use of fluoroscopy was the greatest in orthopaedic surgeons, followed by urology and plastic surgeons. The total amount of cancer under the orthopaedic surgeons had significantly higher prevalence than the expected value, whereas the urology and plastic surgeons did not show significant differences in comparison to US citizens. Additionally, a 2.9-fold increase in the risk of breast cancer was observed in the case of orthopaedic surgeons [7].

To reduce the radiation exposure of surgical staff and patients, the use of the concept of "as low as reasonably achievable (ALARA)" can be recommended [28]. The International Commission on Radiological Protection (ICRP) recommended that occupational radiologic exposure should not exceed an annual average of 20 mSv over 5 years, with not a single year above 50 mSv [16]. Maintaining an appropriate distance from the device and the use of personal protective equipment by the staff, such as lead aprons, lead glasses and thyroid protectives can ensure that the amount of radiation exposure can be kept as low as reasonably achievable [17].

One limitation of this descriptive study is the small sample size of nine dogs, which were kindly provided by the Department of Anatomy and Histology at the University of Veterinary Medicine, Budapest. Due to the deskinning of the cadavers prior to dissection, any palpation findings may have been altered.

The study did not consider possible anatomical anomalies as well as possible differences due to the size of the animals and breed-specific anatomical variations. Additionally, the different sexes of the dissected dogs were not considered in this study.

As the study of the intercristal line was only made by palpation and has a low sample number, it needs further radiographical studies for its proper assessment with a larger sample size. The initial dissections showed that the Tuffier's line indicates the intraspinal space between the sixth and seventh lumbar vertebrae. In one of the dissected dogs, the seventh lumbar vertebra was not percutaneously palpable, suggesting that the position of the intercristal line should be assessed by preoperative radiography.

For the correct identification of the surgical site, it is advisable to use and combine multiple techniques, such as using a percutaneous guidance needle placement and percutaneous palpation prior to the surgery and incision. Intraoperatively, the anatomical landmarks should be carefully evaluated to ensure the proper localization of the surgery [36]. Those bony landmarks include the spinous process of the anticlinal vertebra, the difference between the transverse process of L1 and the last rib and the relationship of L6 to the wings of the ilium [25, 36]. The use of the *processi mammillares* could likewise provide valuable information as they are most accessible at Th13 and L1. For surgeries around Th11, it is advisable to assess the orientation of the facet joint.

Soft tissue landmarks, which have been consistent throughout all dissected dogs include the insertion of the spinalis and semispinalis muscle into the *fascia lumbodorsalis* at Th11. Additionally, the evaluation of the position of the inserting tendons could be used as well as the insertion of the *m. longissimus lumborum* into the *processus accessorius* of L1.

Considering this information, anatomical surgical landmarks should be evaluated preoperatively as well as intraoperatively to reduce the risk of a WSSS and potentially reduce the surgical and anaesthesia time. The use of digital imaging is strongly advisable and may be used for more accurate localization and to determine possible surgically relevant anatomical anomalies. Proper preoperative preparation for the surgery should be done before surgery to avoid wrong-site surgeries and associated problems.

## 7. Abstract

#### 7.1. English Abstract

In recent years, thoracolumbar surgeries have gained increasingly high importance in veterinary surgery as they can effectively treat a wide range of conditions affecting the spinal column in the thoracal and lumbar regions. Seamless anatomical knowledge is therefore essential for the surgeon to evaluate the various amount of anatomical surgical landmarks during the surgery, which can help to find the accurate site of the lesion. These landmarks are important anatomical features of the spinal structures that can be easily and safely evaluated in a reproducible manner intraoperatively.

In human and veterinary medicine, various studies have been performed to reduce the occurrence of wrong-site spinal surgery. A surgery at an incorrect level may have several negative outcomes for the patient and may increase the surgical time.

This descriptive study of nine dog cadavers aims to research the anatomical surgical landmarks for the thoracolumbar region between the eleventh thoracal vertebra and the first lumbar vertebra. Both bony and soft tissue landmarks are described which can be used for orientation preoperatively and intraoperatively to possibly reduce the use of radiological devices, the amount of radiation exposure and surgical and anaesthesia time.

The cadavers were dissected in ventral recumbency at the thoracolumbar region. Over the course of the dissection, the landmarks were dissected including the assessment of the positions of the *processi mammillares*, the relation of L6 and L7 to the intercristal line, along with the insertion points of the *musculus spinalis et semispinalis thoracis et cervicis*.

The dissection showed the consistency of various landmarks. The bony landmarks include the *processus spinosus* of the anticlinal vertebra, the difference between the *processus transversus* of L1 and the last rib and the intercristal line, which passes through the interspinous space of L6 and L7. The use of the *processi mammillares* could likewise provide valuable information as they are most accessible at Th13 and L1. For surgeries around Th11, it is advisable to assess the orientation of the facet joint. Soft tissue landmarks, which have been consistent throughout all nine dogs include the insertion of the *musculus spinalis et semispinalis thoracis et cervicis* into the *fascia lumbodorsalis* at Th11. Additionally, the evaluation of the position of the inserting tendons could be used as well as the insertion of the *musculus longissimus lumborum* into the accessory process of L1. Anatomical surgical landmarks should be evaluated preoperatively as well as intraoperatively to reduce the risk of wrong-site spinal surgery and potentially reduce surgical time. Proper preoperative preparation for the surgery should be done before surgery to avoid wrong-site surgeries and associated problems.

#### 7.2. Hungarian Abstract

Az utóbbi években a thoracolumbalis régiót érintő műtétek egyre nagyobb fontossággal bírnak az állatorvosi sebészetben, mivel ezen technikákkal számos mellkasi és ágyéki gerincet érintő kórkép hatékonyan kezelhetővé válhat. A részletes anatómiai tudás elengedhetetlen a sebész számára, hogy értelmezni tudja az anatómiai sebészeti támpontokat az operáció során, amelyek segítenek megtalálni az elváltozás pontos helyét. Ezen támpontok különböző anatómiai képletek a gerincoszlop mentén, melyek könnyen és biztonsággal felismerhetők reprodukálható módon a beavatkozás alatt.

Az ember- és állatorvoslásban számos különböző tanulmányt végeztek annak érdekében, hogy csökkentsék a helytelen irányból megközelített gerincműtétek számát. A pontatlan helyről megközelített műtéteknek számos negatív következménye lehet a páciens számára, egyúttal növelheti az operáció idejét.

E kilenc tetemmel végzett kutatás célja, hogy feltárja a thoracolumbalis régió anatómiai és sebészeti támpontjait a tizenegyedik háti- és első ágyéki csigolya közötti szakaszon. Mind a csontos, illetve lágyszöveti képletek leírásra kerültek, melyek segítenek a tájékozódásban preoperatívan és intraoperatívan egyaránt, hogy csökkentsük a radiológiai eszközök használatát, így a sugárzásnak való kitettség mértékét, továbbá a műtét és az altatás idejét.

A tetemek thoracolumbalis régióját hasi fektetésben boncoltuk. A boncolás során a támpontot adó képleteket értékeltük, beleérve a *processus mamillaris*-ok pozícióját, az L6 és L7 csigolya viszonyát a *linea intercristalis*-hoz a *m. spinalis et semispinalis thoracis et cervicis* tapadási pontjaival együtt.

A boncolással különböző csontos és lágyszöveti tájékozódási pontok konzisztensen felkereshetőek voltak. A csontos struktúrák, köztük a *vertebra anticlinaris* tövisnyúlványa, a különbség az L1 harántnyúlványa, az utolsó borda és a *linea intercristalis* között, amely az L6 és L7 csigolyák közötti részben halad. A *processus mamillaris*-ok használata szintén értékes információval szolgálhat, mivel ezek a Th13 és L1 csigolyánál a legkönnyebben hozzáférhetők. A Th11-et érintő műtétek esetén javasolt a facet ízület orientációját is értékelni. A lágyszöveti képleteket, melyek egyaránt jelen voltak mind a kilenc kutyában, beleértve a *m.* spinalis et semispinalis *thoracis et cervicis* tapadási pontját a *fascia lumbodorsalis*-on a Th11 magasságában. Továbbá a tapadási ínak pozíciójának értékelése és a lumbalis izmok tapadási pontja az L1 járulákos nyúlványához szintén használható.

Az anatómiai és sebészeti támpontok értékelése preoperatívan és intraoperatívan is fontos, mert ezzel csökkenthető a pontatlan helyen történő műtéti feltárás és potenciálisan csökkenthető az ebből adódó hosszabb műtéti idő. A megfelelő preoperatív előkészületek elvégzése minden esetben fontos, hogy elkerülhessük a nem megfelelő helyről végzett műtétekkel járó komplikációkat.

# 8. List of Figures

**Figure 1:** Canine vertebra viewed from the cranial aspect of the Th1-Th2 discus intervertebralis. Picture modified from Johnston SA, Tobias KM (2018) Veterinary Surgery: Small Animal Surgery, 2. Edition. Elsevier. Page 487

**Figure 2:** Toni-Björn Breuer, *Placement of hypodermic needles. (A) Dorsal view on marked vertebrae Th11 (1) and L1 (2). (B) Dorsolateral view on marked vertebrae Th11 (1) and L1 (2).* Taken on 15.02.2023.

**Figure 3:** Toni-Björn Breuer, *Dorsal view onto lumbosacral region. Marking of L6 (1) and L7 (2).* Taken on 14.05.2023.

**Figure 4:** Toni-Björn Breuer, Dorsolateral view of soft tissue under the fascia thoracolumbalis, showing Th11 (1), L1 (2), m. spinalis et semispinalis thoracis et cervicis (3), m. longissimus lumborum (4) and fascia lumbodorsalis (5). Taken on 15.02.2023.

**Figure 5:** Toni-Björn Breuer, *Lateral view of the vertebra anticlinalis of Th11*. Taken on 09.07.2023

**Figure 6:** Toni-Björn Breuer, *Dorsolateral view of the processi mammillares*. Taken on 09.07.2023.

**Figure 7**: Toni-Björn Breuer, (*A*) *Dorsal and* (*B*) *dorsolateral view of the thoracolumbar junction*. Taken on 09.07.2023.

**Figure 8:** Toni-Björn Breuer, Dorsolateral view of the facet joints. The joint of *Th10/Th11 is marked in red. The joint of Th11/Th12 is marked in blue.* Taken on 09.07.2023.

**Figure 9**: Toni-Björn Breuer, *Dorsal view on the lumbosacral region. (A) Spinous processes are marked in blue. The line indicates the intercristal line. (B) Processi spinosi are marked with a hypodermic needle. The forceps indicate the intercristal line.* Taken on (A) 09.07.2023 and (B) 14.05.2023.

**Figure 10**: Toni-Björn Breuer, *Dorsolateral view of the thoracolumbar region*. (*A*) *Arrows indicate the insertion of the m. spinalis et semispinalis thoracis et cervicis into the fascia lumbodorsalis; Arrows indicate tendons inserting at the processi mammillares of* (*B*) *L1*, (*C*) *Th13 and* (*D*) *Th12*. Taken on (A) 15.04.2023 and (B), (C), (D): 07.03.2023.

**Figure 11**: Toni-Björn Breuer, *Dorsolateral view of the thoracolumbar region*. *Arrows indicate the tendon of the m. longissimus lumborum inserted to the processus. accessorius*. Taken on 07.03.2023.

# 9. References

- Abdullah KG, Bishop FS, Lubelski D, Steinmetz MP, Benzel EC, Mroz TE (2012) Radiation Exposure to the Spine Surgeon in Lumbar and Thoracolumbar Fusions With the Use of an Intraoperative Computed Tomographic 3-Dimensional Imaging System: Spine 37:E1074–E1078. doi: 10.1097/BRS.0b013e31825786d8
- Baines EA, Grandage J, Herrtage ME, Baines SJ (2009) RADIOGRAPHIC DEFINITION OF THE ANTICLINAL VERTEBRA IN THE DOG. Vet Radiol Ultrasound 50:69–73. doi: 10.1111/j.1740-8261.2008.01492.x
- 3. Boursier J-F, Fournet A, Bassanino J, Manassero M, Bedu A-S, Leperlier D (2018) Ultrasonography is more accurate than percutaneous palpation for identifying targeted thoracolumbar intervertebral disc spaces in dogs. Vet Radiol Ultrasound 59:749–757. doi: 10.1111/vru.12672
- 4. Bray J, Burbidge H (1998) The canine intervertebral disk: part one: structure and function. J Am Anim Hosp Assoc 34:55–63. doi: 10.5326/15473317-34-1-55
- 5. Budras K-D, Fricke W, Richter R (2007) Atlas der Anatomie des Hundes: Lehrbuch für Tierärzte und Studierende, 8. Schlütersche Verlagsgesellschaft, Hannover
- Chin KR, Seale J, Cumming V (2017) Avoidance of Wrong-level Thoracic Spine Surgery Using Sterile Spinal Needles: A Technical Report. Clin Spine Surg Spine Publ 30:E54–E58. doi: 10.1097/BSD.0b013e3182a35762
- Chou LB, Lerner LB, Harris AHS, Brandon AJ, Girod S, Butler LM (2015) Cancer Prevalence among a Cross-sectional Survey of Female Orthopedic, Urology, and Plastic Surgeons in the United States. Womens Health Issues 25:476–481. doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2015.05.005
- 8. DeLahunta A, Habel RE (1986) Applied veterinary anatomy, Rev. ed. W.B. Saunders, Philadelphia, Pa.
- 9. DeVine J, Chutkan N, Norvell DC, Dettori JR (2010) Avoiding Wrong Site Surgery: A Systematic Review. Spine 35:S28–S36. doi: 10.1097/BRS.0b013e3181d833ac
- Dixon A, Fauber AE (2017) Effect of anesthesia-associated hypotension on neurologic outcome in dogs undergoing hemilaminectomy because of acute, severe thoracolumbar intervertebral disk herniation: 56 cases (2007–2013). J Am Vet Med Assoc 250:417–423. doi: 10.2460/javma.250.4.417
- 11. Fenn J, Ru H, Jeffery ND, Moore S, Tipold A, Soebbeler FJ, Wang-Leandro A, Mariani CL, Early PJ, Muñana KR, Olby NJ (2020) Association between anesthesia duration and outcome in dogs with surgically treated acute severe spinal cord injury caused by thoracolumbar intervertebral disk herniation. J Vet Intern Med 34:1507–1513. doi: 10.1111/jvim.15796
- Hayda RA, Hsu RY, DePasse JM, Gil JA (2018) Radiation Exposure and Health Risks for Orthopaedic Surgeons: J Am Acad Orthop Surg 26:268–277. doi: 10.5435/JAAOS-D-16-00342
- Houten JK, Nasser R, Baxi N (2012) Clinical Assessment of Percutaneous Lumbar Pedicle Screw Placement Using the O-Arm Multidimensional Surgical Imaging System. Neurosurgery 70:990–995. doi: 10.1227/NEU.0b013e318237a829
- 14. Jacoby GW (1895) Lumbar puncture of the subarachnoid space. NY Med J 62:813-818
- 15. Johnston SA, Tobias KM (2018) Veterinary Surgery: Small Animal Surgery, 2. Edition. Elsevier

- Jr JDB, Clarke RH, Meinhold CB, Sasaki Y, Shandala N, Jr FAM, Sinclair WK, Streffer C, Pan Z, Sugier A, Pentreath RJ, Preston RJ (2007) The 2007 Recommendations of the International Commission on Radiological Protection: ICRP publication 103. ICPR
- 17. Kaplan DJ, Patel JN, Liporace FA, Yoon RS (2016) Intraoperative radiation safety in orthopaedics: a review of the ALARA (As low as reasonably achievable) principle. Patient Saf Surg 10:27. doi: 10.1186/s13037-016-0115-8
- Kirberger RM, Roos CJ, Lubbe AM (1992) The radiological diagnosis of thoracolumbar disc disease in the dachshund. Vet Radiol Htmlent Glyphamp Asciiamp Ultrasound 33:255–261. doi: 10.1111/j.1740-8261.1992.tb00140.x
- König HE, Liebich H-G (2019) Anatomie der Haustiere: Lehrbuch und Farbatlas für Studium und Praxis,
  7. Auflage. Georg Thieme Verlag KG, Stuttgart
- 20. MacKenzie SD, Caswell JL, Brisson BA, Gaitero L, Chalmers HJ (2014) COMPARISON BETWEEN COMPUTED TOMOGRAPHY, FLUOROSCOPY, AND ULTRASONOGRAPHY FOR GUIDING PERCUTANEOUS INJECTION OF THE CANINE INTERVERTEBRAL DISC: Image Guided Intervertebral Disc Injections. Vet Radiol Ultrasound 55:571–581. doi: 10.1111/vru.12155
- Martirosyan NL, Feuerstein JS, Theodore N, Cavalcanti DD, Spetzler RF, Preul MC (2011) Blood supply and vascular reactivity of the spinal cord under normal and pathological conditions: A review. J Neurosurg Spine 15:238–251. doi: 10.3171/2011.4.SPINE10543
- 22. Mody MG, Nourbakhsh A, Stahl DL, Gibbs M, Alfawareh M, Garges KJ (2008) The Prevalence of Wrong Level Surgery Among Spine Surgeons: Spine 33:194–198. doi: 10.1097/BRS.0b013e31816043d1
- Nassr A, Lee JY, Bashir RS, Rihn JA, Eck JC, Kang JD, Lim MR (2009) Does Incorrect Level Needle Localization During Anterior Cervical Discectomy and Fusion Lead to Accelerated Disc Degeneration?: Spine 34:189–192. doi: 10.1097/BRS.0b013e3181913872
- 24. Nickel R, Schummer A, Seiferle E (2003) Lehrbuch der Anatomie der Haustiere, Band I: Bewegungsapparat, 8. Parey
- 25. Noussitou FL, Forterre S, Stoffel MH, Groccia M, Haas K, Brusa F, Howard J, Gorgas D, Forterre F (2017) Palpation accuracy of thoracolumbar spious processes using T13 and the 13th pair of ribs as landmarks in dogs. Wien Tierärztl Monatsschrift 107
- 26. Packer RMA, Hendricks A, Volk HA, Shihab NK, Burn CC (2013) How Long and Low Can You Go? Effect of Conformation on the Risk of Thoracolumbar Intervertebral Disc Extrusion in Domestic Dogs. PLoS ONE 8:e69650. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0069650
- 27. Palumbo MA, Bianco AJ, Esmende S, Daniels AH (2013) Wrong-site Spine Surgery. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 21:312–320. doi: 10.5435/JAAOS-21-05-312
- Prasad KN, Cole WC, Haase GM (2004) Radiation protection in humans: extending the concept of as low as reasonably achievable (ALARA) from dose to biological damage. Br J Radiol 77:97–99. doi: 10.1259/bjr/88081058
- 29. Riley SA (1989) Radiation Exposure From Fluoroscopy During Orthopedic Surgical Procedures: Clin Orthop 248:257???260. doi: 10.1097/00003086-198911000-00041
- 30. Schaller O (1992) Illustrated veterinary anatomical nomenclature, 2nd ed. Enke Verlag, Stuttgart

- 31. Schils F (2011) O-Arm–Guided Balloon Kyphoplasty: Prospective Single-Center Case Series of 54 Consecutive Patients. Oper Neurosurg 68:ons250–ons256. doi: 10.1227/NEU.0b013e31821421b9
- Sembrano JN, Santos ERG, Polly DW (2014) New generation intraoperative three-dimensional imaging (O-arm) in 100 spine surgeries: Does it change the surgical procedure? J Clin Neurosci 21:225–231. doi: 10.1016/j.jocn.2013.04.011
- 33. Snider KT, Kribs JW, Snider EJ, Degenhardt BF, Bukowski A Reliability of Tuffier's Line as an Anatomic Landmark
- 34. Tuffier T (1900) Anesthesie medullaire chirurgicale par injection sous-arachnoidienne lombaire de cocaine; technique et resultats. Sem Medicale 20:167–169
- 35. Vitale M, Minkara A, Matsumoto H, Albert T, Anderson R, Angevine P, Buckland A, Cho S, Cunningham M, Errico T, Fischer C, Kim HJ, Lehman R, Lonner B, Passias P, Protopsaltis T, Schwab F, Lenke L (2018) Building Consensus: Development of Best Practice Guidelines on Wrong Level Surgery in Spinal Deformity. Spine Deform 6:121–129. doi: 10.1016/j.jspd.2017.08.005
- 36. Wheeler SJ, Sharp NJH (2005) Small Animal Spinal Disorders: Diagnosis and Surgery, 2. Edition. Elsevier Limited
- 37. Wilkens BE, Selcer R, Adams WH, Thomas WB (1996) T9-T10 Intervertebral Disc Herniation in Three Dogs. Vet Comp Orthop Traumatol 09:177–178. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1632526
- Windisch G, Ulz H, Feigl G (2009) Reliability of Tuffier's line evaluated on cadaver specimens. Surg Radiol Anat 31:627–630. doi: 10.1007/s00276-009-0493-z

# 10. Acknowledgements

I especially would like to thank my external supervisor Prof. Dr. Franck Forterre for offering the thesis topic and for his patience, support, and encouragement throughout my thesis work.

Many thanks to Prof. Dr. Tibor Németh for the offer to be the internal supervisor of my thesis.

I would like to thank the Department of Anatomy and Histology for providing me with the cadavers for the dissection. Particularly Dr. László Reinitz and Dr. Gábor Lorászkó for their support and the great time during my work as a Demonstrator at the Department of Anatomy and Histology and all the Members of the University of Veterinary Medicine Budapest who contributed to the research.

I would especially like to thank my mother, Dr. Barbara Krebs-Breuer, without her none of this would have been possible. She never stopped believing in me and always supported me throughout the whole studies and enabled me to study at the University of Veterinary Medicine Budapest.

Furthermore, I would like to express my gratitude to my beloved sister, Marion Breuer, and friends, especially Sandra Bachmann and Lea Jacob, who have stood by me throughout the whole time, offering me their unwavering support in every situation. I am truly grateful for their presence in my life.

Thank you all for being a significant part of my journey.

## HuVetA

## **ELECTRONIC LICENSE AGREEMENT AND COPYRIGHT DECLARATION\***

Name: Toni-Björn Matthias Breuer Contact information (e-mail): tonibreuer00@gmail.com Title of document (to be uploaded): Anatomical Surgical Landmarks in Thoracolumbar Surgery of Dogs Publication data of document: TDK 2023 Number of files submitted: 1 electronic (pdf), 2 printed

By accepting the present agreement the author or copyright owner grants non-exclusive license to HuVetA over the above mentioned document (including its abstract) to be converted to copy protected PDF format without changing its content, in order to archive, reproduce, and make accessible under the conditions specified below.

The author agrees that HuVetA may store more than one copy (accessible only to HuVetA administrators) of the licensed document exclusively for purposes of secure storage and backup, if necessary.

You state that the submission is your original work, and that you have the right to grant the rights contained in this license. You also state that your submission does not, to the best of your knowledge, infringe upon anyone's copyright. If the document has parts which you are not the copyright owner of, you have to indicate that you have obtained unrestricted permission from the copyright owner to grant the rights required by this Agreement, and that any such third-party owned material is clearly identified and acknowledged within the text of the licensed document.

The copyright owner defines the scope of access to the document stored in HuVetA as follows (mark the appropriate box with an X):

I grant unlimited online access,

I grant access only through the intranet (IP range) of the University of Veterinary Medicine,

X	

I grant access only on one dedicated computer at the Ferenc Hutÿra Library,

I grant unlimited online access only to the bibliographic data and abstract of the document.

Please, define the **in-house accessibility of the document** by marking the below box with an **X**:



I grant in-house access (namely, reading the hard copy version of the document) at the Library.

If the preparation of the document to be uploaded was supported or sponsored by a firm or an organization, you also declare that you are entitled to sign the present Agreement concerning the document.

The operators of HuVetA do not assume any legal liability or responsibility towards the author/copyright holder/organizations in case somebody uses the material legally uploaded to HuVetA in a way that is unlawful.

Date: Budapest, 23.10.2023

Author/copyright owner signature

HuVetA Magyar Állatorvos-tudományi Archívum – Hungarian Veterinary Archive is an online veterinary repository operated by the Ferenc Hutÿra Library, Archives and Museum. It is an electronic knowledge base which aims to collect, organize, store documents regarding Hungarian veterinary science and history, and make them searchable and accessible in line with current legal requirements and regulations.

HuVetA relies on the latest technology in order to provide easy searchability (by search egines, as well) and access to the full text document, whenever possible. Based on the above, HuVetA aims to:

- increase awareness of Hungarian veterinary science not only in Hungary, but also internationally;
- increase citation numbers of publications authored by Hungarian veterinarians, thus improve the impact factor of Hungarian veterinary journals;
- present the knowledge base of the University of Veterinary Medicine Budapest and its partners in a focussed way in order to improve the prestige of the Hungarian veterinary profession, and the competitiveness of the organizations in question;
- *facilitate professional relations and collaboration;*
- support open access.